






As we continue to build CARD MRI up as a dynamic group of development-oriented 
institutions fit for the digital landscape, we must always recognize the very reason 
for us in undertaking this grand endeavor - our clients and members.

They are our inspiration, and their upliftment in life is our mission. We, as servants 
of social development, must always remind ourselves that our transformation has 
purpose.

Our cover aims to illustrate CARD MRI’s dedication towards our digital transformation 
while still maintaining the essential human connection we have with our clients and 
stakeholder partners. The motif of the wheel symbolizes that CARD MRI is purposely 
designed to move forward with the aid of technology, while the inset photographs 
showcase not only our institutions’ achievements but also meaningful moments with 
our clients and communities.

This is transformation with a mission.
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CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation (CLFC) aims to be the Philippines’ leading leasing 
and financing company for economically-challenged families, micro, small, medium and 
social enterprises towards nation building.

CARD LFC is committed to:

•  Provide the clients with the highest quality but affordable leasing and financing services  
   that can boost their productivity, income and sustainability.

• Support the rural electrification and climate change agenda of the Philippines by
  promoting practical and cost effective environmentally-friendly technologies to 
  Filipinos in the off-grid rural areas as well as in other urban communities.

Achieving 5-8-40 and Beyond 5



CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation (CLFC) 
understands that everything big starts small: substantial 
achievements are sustained thanks to gradual steps 
and consistency in efforts.

 
From financing start-ups and solar projects, to 

supporting sustainable fishing techniques and leasing 
e-bikes, we, at CLFC, promise to continuously provide 
our better services to you. Together, we take small steps 
toward achieving our big wins.

 
Think of our Leasing and Financing program as a 

ladder: it eases your financial burden and lifts you up 
towards achieving your goals and turning them into 
reality. While there is always the possibility of sliding 
down the ladder, you are always challenged to rise 
up and above the challenges, disappointments, and 
drawbacks. Always remember, though, that you’re not 
alone. We are here. 

With social justice and development at the heart of 
our service that guide our principles, we are conscious 
in aligning our mission-vision according to the world’s 
Sustainable Development Goals, which include 
empowerment and poverty eradication. But more than 

these, we are also very much involved and invested in 
environment sustainability as well.   We are creating a 
path towards all our stakeholders’ development. We 
will continue in supporting efforts that not only bring 
personal gains, but environmental preservation, too.

 
Not only are we environmentally conscious, but 

also education advocates. Our outlook for this year 
and the following years is targeted towards seeking 
new potential educational institutions through referrals 
from our existing suppliers and customers. In this way, 
our pursuits evolve and we don’t remain stagnant, but 
always moving forward.

 
As I always say to anyone who has misconceptions 

about the company, “We’re more than just financing and 
loans.” CLFC does not only concern itself with numbers, 
targets, and hard data, but beyond these, we clamor 
for significant changes that matter and materialize in 
your everyday lives. We are no stranger to the needs 
of our customer-partners, and, hand-in-hand, we take 
small steps forward as we march towards a sustainable 
future for you and the next generation.

Jocelyn D. Dequito
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From solar products, start-ups, and social 
enterprises to printing machines and leasing gadgets 
and more, CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation 
(CLFC) vows for better services and confident outlook 
for this year. 

Our year-end report at CLFC highlighted that we 
have reached Total Equipment Held for Lease Portfolio 
amounted to PhP203.36 million for 14 clients, Finance 
Lease Portfolio of PhP7.18 million for 313 clients, and 
Loans Receivable of PhP137.87 million for 835 clients. 
The gross income from leasing and financing was 
recorded at PhP 215,710,669.00, which was higher than 
the PhP181,212,613.08 target. Meanwhile, CLFC’s actual 
direct and indirect clients in 2018 were at 1,162 and 
25,239 Filipinos, respectively.

But, CLFC’s Solar Power project—which supports 
rural electrification by using practical and cost-effective 
technologies to off-grid rural areas and other urban 
communities in the country—on the other hand, saw 
a rating of 153%, with target of 1,857 clients compared 
to the actual clients reached at 2,842. The Solar Power 
program, which reaches off-grid partner sites including 
secluded areas in Palawan and Visayas, is one of our 
favorite projects, among the many other pursuits we 
lead. 

At CLFC, the kind of leadership doesn’t subscribe to 
the traditional type where the management and staff 

are confined to their airconditioned offices. We always 
personally visit our clients. It’s important to go out and 
immerse yourself to see the situation. In this way, you 
get acquainted with the real issues on ground, one of 
which are challenges in technology.  

So what are the setbacks that CLFC often face 
when networking for more clients or when dealing with 
its growing client? 

Difficulties occur when stakeholders refuse or 
express apprehension in fully embracing modern 
technologies, but CLFC will power through. For instance, 
some of our clients are so used to manual and 
traditional practices, say, in weighing products, they 
are comfortable with using instincts alone. Here enters 
CLFC, which envisions and empowers small-scale 
entrepreneurs to level up and welcome change. We 
always encourage our networks to use and maximize 
the available technologies. 

CLFC practices what it preaches. While some of its 
clients are still more comfortable with the old practices 
and technology, its internal management is starting to 
embrace internet, simple technology, and automation 
process. 

For instance, CLFC is maximizing the convenience 
and scope of Facebook in reaching more Filipinos online. 
Nowadays, everyone seems to be on social media, so 
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we have to keep up with it. With social media and the 
unified collaboration tool for CARD MRI staff developed 
by CARD MRI Information Technology (CMIT), we hope 
to increase the portfolio of our rent-to-own motorcycle. 
This is important because motorcycles are critical in 
business especially in transporting goods or other 
services.

CLFC’s Facebook page utilizes the power of 
social media not only to market promotions, contests, 
and contents, but to share their mission and gather 
more members. There was a Facebook contest that 
involved loaned motorcycles, and it was well received 
by the netizen. CLFC—together with the other CARD 
institutions—vows to utilize the power of social media 
for this year and the coming years.  

Further, CLFC will increase the number of its clients 
(both internal and external) from 1,524 in 2018 to 1,560 in 
2019 —and a part of this will be attributed to social media 
technologies. Not only is CLFC getting a foothold online, 
but it is improving its SMS-related scheme that especially 
targets the offline clients while closing the gap of the 
Internet divide. We have successfully implemented the 
use of text blast technology in ordering inks and toner 
that lead in the achievement of PhP63 million gross 
sales.  A provider for operating lease, printing services, 
finance lease, and financing products, CLFC uses text 

blasts for capacity building and communication.

Achieving 5-8-40 through digital and
meaningful collaboration

More than just target-numbers “5-8-40” or the 
consolidated target of CARD MRI that aims to reach 
eight million Filipino clients by 2020, this all boils down to 
how relevant are the numbers to reach a “trickled-down” 
effect to the microentrepreneurs. For CLFC, contributing 
to the target is both challenging and fulfilling. 

Our role in this collective vision of CARD MRI is to 
provide our clients, who are also the clients of CARD 
MRI, with the highest quality but affordable leasing and 
financing services that can boost the microentrepeneurs’ 
productivity, income, and sustainability. To achieve this, 
we will continue enhancing the existing system and the 
technological resources and develop new strategies that 
will lead to faster and more efficient transactions.

Aligned with the Sustainable Development Goals, 
CLFC wants to achieve poverty eradication, empowerment, 
and environment sustainability among the people. CLFC 
isn’t only about leasing—we’re more than that. At the 
heart of our services is a vision of a society where all our 
microentrepreneurs are empowered and sustainable. It is 
in our DNA.
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2HD Computer Ventures

ADEC International Corporation

Century Office Equipment Trading

Chevrolet

Chiaro Printing Press

Digital Press

Fervil Printhaus

Forefront Innovative Technologies, Inc.

FVP Framing and General Services

Grouptech

Honda Cars San Pablo

Jovellanos Printing Press

Jump Solutions, Inc.

Lorelits Printshop

Microtech Systems Services & Equipment Corporation

Microphase Corporation

Rohaca Typograph Printshop

SFM Sales Corporation

Sunlife Bookstores

Toyota San Pablo

Triplex Enterprises Incorporated

Trojan Envelope Manufacturing

UBIX Corporation
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CARD LEASING AND FINANCE CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
2018 2017

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash (Note 6) P=25,810,263 P=34,549,148
Receivables (Note 7) 79,133,630 44,806,904
Inventories (Notes 8 and 16) 4,285 108,475
Input value added tax - net 3,949,524 4,191,234
Other current assets (Note 9) 212,062 823,713

109,109,764 84,479,474

Noncurrent Assets
Receivables (Note 7) 61,000,205 46,451,626
Equipment held for lease (Note 10) 203,368,886 186,012,402
Property and equipment (Note 11) 724,963 988,810
Investment properties (Notes 7 and 11) 10,351,267 10,019,266
Retirement asset (Note 21) 2,067,070 2,529,847
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 22) 1,485,949 449,378
Other noncurrent assets (Note 12) 18,889,939 17,133,096

297,888,279 263,584,425

TOTAL ASSETS P=406,998,043 P=348,063,899

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 13) P=19,012,921 P=30,173,310
Loans payable (Notes 14 and 23) 117,668,865 84,228,653
Lease deposits (Note 10) 43,059,470 40,880,218
Income tax payable 10,334,254 1,500,921
Input VAT payable 1,117,646 17,133,096

191,193,156 173,916,198

Noncurrent Liabilities
Loans payable (Notes 14 and 23) 45,318,777 39,598,152
Lease deposits (Note 10) 22,334,041 23,597,902

67,652,818 63,196,054
258,845,974 237,112,252

Equity
Capital stock (Note 15) 97,657,835 78,035,520
Retained earnings 49,109,769 31,207,733
Remeasurement gain on retirement plan (Note 21) 1,384,465 1,708,394

148,152,069 110,951,647

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P=406,998,043 P=348,063,899

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD LEASING AND FINANCE CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2018 2017

OPERATING INCOME
Rental and finance income (Note 17) P=194,708,672 P=157,997,194
Interest income from receivables financed (Note 18) 12,328,821 9,176,511

207,037,493 167,173,705

Sales from printing 67,287,531 51,082,302
Cost of sales (Notes 8 and 16) (59,361,518) (43,449,407)
Gross income from printing 7,926,013 7,632,895
Other income (Note 18) 747,163 400,820

8,673,176 8,033,715
215,710,669 175,207,420

EXPENSES
Depreciation and amortization (Note 10) 85,361,568 88,403,276
Insurance 11,637,761 10,278,321
Interest (Notes 14 and 23) 11,044,169 9,323,779
Compensation and benefits (Notes 19 and 23) 6,479,457 2,799,353
Seminars and meetings 6,086,524 3,886,242
Program monitoring and evaluation 3,791,865 5,244,127
Professional fees 2,948,411 466,416
Provision for credit losses (Note 7) 2,818,967 578,721
Transportation and travel 1,576,704 1,207,158
Taxes and licenses 1,150,353 2,806,876
Staff training and development 409,526 615,445
Rent (Note 17) 136,316 172,632
Supplies and materials 85,859 415,255
Miscellaneous (Note 20) 11,989,219 5,084,111

145,516,699 131,281,712

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 70,193,970 43,925,708

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 22) 21,091,934 12,719,972

NET INCOME P=49,102,036 P=31,205,736

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD LEASING AND FINANCE CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2018 2017

NET INCOME P=49,102,036 P=31,205,736

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Item that may not be reclassified to the statements of income:

Remeasurement loss on retirement plan (Note 21) (462,756) (79,123)
Income tax effect 138,827 23,737

(323,929) (55,386)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=48,778,107 P=31,150,350

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD LEASING AND FINANCE CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Capital
Stock

(Note 15)
Retained
Earnings

Remeasurement
Gain (Loss) on

Retirement Plan
(Note 21) Total

Balance at January 1, 2018 P=78,035,520 P=31,207,733 P=1,708,394 P=110,951,647
Collection of subscriptions receivable 19,622,315 – – 19,622,315
Total comprehensive income for the year – 49,102,036 (323,929) 48,778,107
Cash dividends declared and paid (Note 15) – (31,200,000) – (31,200,000)

Balance at December 31, 2018 P=97,657,835 P=49,109,769 P=1,384,465 P=148,152,069

Balance at January 1, 2017 P=50,522,440 P=24,701,997 P=1,763,780 P=76,988,217
Issuance of shares 15,475,000 – – 15,475,000
Collection of subscriptions receivable 1,013,080 – – 1,013,080
Total comprehensive income for the year – 31,205,736 (55,386) 31,150,350
Stock dividends declared and distributed

(Note 15) 11,025,000 (11,025,000) – –
Cash dividends declared and paid (Note 15) – (13,675,000) – (13,675,000)

Balance at December 31, 2017 P=78,035,520 P=31,207,733 P=1,708,394 P=110,951,647

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD LEASING AND FINANCE CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=70,193,969 P=43,925,708
Adjustments for:

Depreciation (Note 10) 85,361,568 88,403,276
Interest income (Notes 7 and 18) (12,521,605) (9,296,568)
Interest expense (Note 14) 11,044,169 9,323,779
Amortization of unearned rental income (4,500,002) (1,941,015)
Provision for credit losses (Note 7) 2,818,967 578,720
Retirement expense (Note 19) 6,940 22,234

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in the amounts of:

Receivables (51,305,502) (14,967,615)
Inventories 104,190 392,305
Other current assets (10,005,492) (3,499,680)

Increase (decrease) in the amounts of:
Trade and other payables (29,959,290) 4,438,559
Lease deposits 9,231,827 15,953,456

Net cash generated from operations 70,469,740 133,333,160
Interest received 12,132,834 9,285,103
Interest paid (13,641,473) (10,524,735)
Contributions to the retirement fund (Note 21) (6,919) (148,825)
Income taxes paid (Note 9) (796,571) (3,387,993)
Net cash provided by operating activities 68,157,611 128,556,711
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:

Equipment held for lease (Note 10) (103,908,804) (114,590,960)
Property and equipment (Note 11) (170,811) (923,215)
Investment property (Note 11) (920,000) –

Proceeds from disposals of equipment held for lease (Note 10) 2,213,409 264,228
Net cash used in investing activities (102,786,205) (115,249,947)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Availment of loans payable (Note 14) 170,000,000 80,000,000
Issuance of shares (Note 15) – 15,475,000
Collections of subscriptions receivable (Note 15) 19,622,315 1,013,080

Payments for:
Loans payable (Note 14) (129,500,763) (80,875,463)
Dividends declared (31,200,000) (13,675,000)
Documentary stamp taxes on loans (1,275,000) (400,000)

Net cash provided by financing activities 27,646,552 1,537,617
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH (8,738,885) 14,844,379
CASH AT BEGINNING OFYEAR 34,549,148 19,704,769
CASH AT END OF YEAR P=25,810,263 P=34,549,148

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD LEASING AND FINANCE CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Company Information

CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation (the Company) was registered with the Philippine Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) and started commercial operations on January 10, 2013.  The main
purpose of the Company is to extend credit facilities to consumer and to industrial, commercial or
agricultural enterprises by direct lending or by discounting or factoring commercial papers or account
receivables, or by buying and selling contracts without quasi-banking activities.  Included in its
secondary purpose is to purchase, acquire, own, sell and convey properties or to engage in general
trading activities and perform business support services which would help its clients in their business
needs, such as printing of corporate identification cards and business forms.

The Company’s principal place of business is at M.L. Quezon St., City Subdivision, San Pablo City,
Laguna.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis and are
presented in Philippine peso (P=), the Company’s functional and presentation currency.  All values are
rounded to the nearest peso unless otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except that
the Company has adopted the following new accounting pronouncements starting January 1, 2018.
Adoption of these pronouncements did not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial
position or performance, unless otherwise stated.

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of PFRS 9.  The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting.

The Company has adopted PFRS 9 effective January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective
approach.  The Company has not restated the comparative information, which continued to be
reported under PAS 39.  There are no differences arising from the adoption of PFRS 9 to be
recognized directly in retained earnings

Classification and Measurement
Under PFRS 9, debt financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL), amortized cost (AC), or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  The
classification is based on: the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets; and
whether the financial instrument’s contractual cash flows represent “solely payments of principal and
interests” or “SPPI” on the principal amount outstanding.
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The assessment of the Company’s business model was made as at January 1, 2018.  The assessment
of whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows are SPPI was made based on the facts and
circumstances as at the initial recognition of the financial assets.

The classification and measurement requirements of PFRS 9 did not have a significant impact on the
Company.  The Company continues measuring at amortized cost all financial assets and liabilities
previously held at amortized cost under PAS 39.

Impairment
The adoption of PFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s measurement of impairment
losses for its financial assets – from PAS 39’s incurred loss approach to a forward-looking expected
credit loss (ECL) approach.  Under PFRS 9, the Company is required to provide ECL for financial
assets at Amortized Cost, FVOCI and contract assets.  The allowance is based on the ECLs associated
with the risk of default in the next twelve months unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since origination or the financial assets are impaired where lifetime ECL is provided.

Upon the adoption of PFRS 9, the Company assessed that its balances with counterparty banks, third
party and related party receivables are considered low credit risk financial assets as of
January 1, 2018.  Starting January 1, 2018, the Company has been recording the allowance for ECL
for all loans and other debt financial assets at amortized cost.  The ECL allowance is based on the
credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime ECL), unless there has been no
significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on
the 12-months’ ECL.

Hedge accounting
The new hedge accounting model under PFRS 9 aims to simplify hedge accounting, align the
accounting for hedge relationships more closely with an entity’s risk management activities and
permit hedge accounting to be applied more broadly to a greater variety of hedging instruments and
risks eligible for hedge accounting.

Adoption of these amendments did not have an impact on the Company’s financial statements as it
does not apply hedge accounting.

∂ PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
PFRS 15 supersedes PAS 11, Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue and related Interpretations
and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers.  PFRS 15
establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and
requires that revenue be recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  In addition,
guidance on interest and dividend income have been moved from PAS 18 to PFRS 9 without
significant changes to the requirements. The adoption of PFRS 15 has no significant impact to the
Company as most of its revenues are accounted for outside of PFRS 15.

∂ New and Amended Standards
∂ Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-

based Payment Transactions
∂ Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with

PFRS 4
∂ Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

Consideration
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∂ Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2014 – 2017 Cycle)
∂ Amendments to PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, Measuring an

Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value
∂ Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property

Significant Accounting Policies

Current versus Non-current Classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current or
non-current classification.  An asset is current when it is:

∂ expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;
∂ held primarily for the purpose of trading;
∂ expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or
∂ cash and cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at

least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

∂ it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;
∂ it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
∂ expected to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
∂ there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months

after the reporting period.

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Fair Value Measurement
The Company initially measures its financial instruments and nonfinancial assets at fair value.  The
fair values of financial instruments measured at amortized cost and investment properties are
disclosed in Note 4.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

∂ in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
∂ in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.  The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

25Audited Financial Report



- 4 -

*SGVFS036690*

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

∂ Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
∂ Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

     value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
∂ Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

     value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period (see Note 4).

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy as explained above.

Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash in banks represent current and savings deposits that
earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Financial Instruments - Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement
Date of recognition
The Company recognizes financial instruments in the statement of financial position when the
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date.

Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value.  Except for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (FVPL), the initial measurement of financial assets includes transaction costs.

‘Day 1’ difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different with the fair value from other
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in the statement of income unless it
qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where data are not observable, the
difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the statement of
income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each
transaction, the Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ difference
amount.
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Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets (after adoption of PFRS 9)
Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them.  The Company
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs.

Business model assessment
The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of
financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Company’s business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher
level of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as
∂ How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business

model are evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel
∂ The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within

that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed
∂ How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based

on the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected)
∂ The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Company’s

assessment

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case'
or 'stress case’ scenarios into account.  If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that
is different from the Company's original expectations, the Company does not change the classification
of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when
assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

SPPI test
As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual terms of financial
to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial
recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments
of principal or amortization of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration
for the time value of money and credit risk.  To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies
judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is
denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
• Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments),
• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt

instruments),
• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and

losses upon derecognition (equity instruments), and
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

As of December 31 and January 1, 2018 the Company does not have financial assets measured at
FVPL or FVOCI.
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Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the Company.  The Company measures financial assets at
amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in

order to collect contractual cash flows, and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost includes ‘cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash
on hand) and ‘receivables’

Financial liabilities at amortized cost (policy applicable before and after January 1, 2018)
These are issued financial instruments or their components which are not designated as at FVPL and
where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Company having an obligation
either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity
shares.  The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity
elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount
after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of
the liability component on the date of issue.

After initial measurement, financial liabilities at amortized cost are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the EIR method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.

This category includes the Company’s ‘trade and other payables’, ‘lease deposits’ and ‘Loans
payable’.

Classification of financial instruments (policy applicable prior to January 1, 2018)
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL,
held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, available-for-sale (AFS) securities, and loans and receivables.
The Company classifies its financial liabilities either as financial liabilities at FVPL or financial
liabilities at amortized cost.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments
were acquired or incurred and whether these are quoted in an active market.  Management determines
the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as liability or equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement.  Any interest, dividends, realized and unrealized gains
and losses from financial instruments or a component considered as a financial liability are
recognized in profit or loss.  Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are
treated as owner-related, thus, are charged directly to equity.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company has no financial instruments at FVPL, HTM investments and
AFS securities.
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Receivables
This accounting policy relates to the statement of financial position caption ‘Receivables’.  These are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not
quoted in an active market.  They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term
resale and are not classified as financial assets at FVTPL or designated as AFS investments.
Receivables also include the aggregate rental on finance lease transactions.  Unearned income on
finance lease transactions is shown as a deduction from ‘Receivables’ (included in ‘Unearned lease
income’ account).

After initial measurement, receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate (EIR).  The amortization is included under ‘Interest income from receivables financed’ in
the statements of income.  The losses arising from impairment of such loans and receivables are
recognized in ‘Provision for credit losses’ in the statements of income.

Receivables are classified as current assets if maturity is within 12 months from the reporting date.
Otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets.

Impairment of financial Assets (PFRS 9)
Starting January 1, 2018, the Company has been recording the allowance for ECL for all loans and
other debt financial assets at amortised cost.  The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses
expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime ECL), unless there has been no significant
increase in credit risk (SICR) since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12-
months’ ECL.  Equity instruments are not subject to impairment at PFRS 9.

The 12-month ECL represents the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.  Both lifetime ECL and 12-month ECL are
calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of the
underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

The Company has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period,
of whether a financial instrument has experience a SICR since initial recognition, by considering the
change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.

Based on the above process, the Company groups its financial instruments into stages.

∂ Stage 1 is comprised of all non-impaired financial instruments which have not experienced a
SICR since initial recognition.  The Company recognizes a 12-month ECL for Stage 1 financial
instruments.

∂ Stage 2 is comprised of all non-impaired financial instruments which have experienced a SICR
since initial recognition.  The Company recognizes a lifetime ECL for Stage 2 financial
instruments.

∂ Financial instruments are classified as Stage 3 when there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more loss events that have occurred after initial recognition with a negative
impact on the estimated future cash flows of a loan or a portfolio of loans.  The ECL model
requires that lifetime ECL be recognized for impaired financial instruments.
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The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:

The probability of default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time
horizon.  A default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not
been previously derecognized and is still in the portfolio, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The exposure at default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into
account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal
and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed
facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.

The loss given default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the
lender would expect to receive, including from the realization of any collateral.  It is usually
expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

Impairment of Financial Assets before January 1, 2018
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to
be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial asssets at amortized cost
The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for
receivables that are individually significant, or collectively for receivables that are not individually
significant.  If there is no objective evidence that an impairment exists for an individually assessed
loans and receivables, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of loans and
receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses such group for
impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of
such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment
and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective
assessment for impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is charged
to profit or loss in the statement of income.

Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the
amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the
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allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any amount formerly charged is credited to
‘Other income’.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets)
is derecognized when:
∂ the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or transferred;
∂ the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset but has assumed an obligation

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or
∂ the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
“pass-through” arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statements of
income.

Inventories
Costs of inventories include all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition.  The Company’s inventories are accounted for in a first-in,
first-out basis.

Inventories are recognized as expenses when sold.  The Company shall recognize the carrying
amount of these inventories as expenses in the period in which the related revenue is recognized.

Value-Added Tax (VAT)
Sales, related expenses, assets, and liabilities are recognized net of the amount of VAT except:

∂ where the VAT incurred on the purchase of an asset or service is not recoverable from the tax
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
part of the expense item as applicable; and

∂ receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.
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Equipment Held for Lease and Property and Equipment
Equipment held for lease and property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation, and any impairment in value.  The initial cost of equipment held for lease and property
and equipment is comprised of purchase price and any directly attributable costs of preparing the
asset for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after the items of equipment held for lease or
property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged
against the statement of income.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the
expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future benefits expected to be obtained from the use
of an item of equipment held for lease or property and equipment beyond its originally assessed
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of the asset.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life (EUL) of
five (5) years for transportation vehicles and three (3) years for computer and other equipment of
equipment held for lease and property and equipment.

The depreciation method and the EUL of the equipment held for lease and property and equipment
are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and method used are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from such assets.

When equipment held for lease or property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the
cost and the related accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value are removed from the
accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged against the statement of income.

Investment Properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  An investment
property acquired through an exchange transaction is measured at fair value of the asset acquired
unless the fair value of such an asset cannot be measured in which case the investment property
acquired is measured at the carrying amount of asset given up.  Foreclosed properties are classified
under ‘Investment properties’ upon either: a) entry of judgment in case of judicial foreclosure; b)
execution of sheriff’s certificate of sale in case of extra-judicial foreclosure; or c) notarization of the
deed of dacion in case of payment in kind (dacion en pago).  Subsequent to initial recognition,
depreciable investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The difference between the fair value of the asset acquired and the carrying amount of the asset given
up is recognized under ‘Other income’ in the statement of income.

Investment properties are derecognized when they have either been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its
disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized
in the statement of income in the period of retirement or disposal.

Expenditures incurred after the investment properties have been put into operations, such as repairs
and maintenance costs, are charged against income in the year in which the costs are incurred.

Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced
by cessation of owner-occupation or of construction or development, or commencement of an
operating lease to another party.  Transfers are made from investment properties when, and only
when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement
of development with a view to sale.

CLFC ANNUAL REPORT 201832



- 11 -

*SGVFS036690*

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of
inventories, input value added tax, equipment held for lease, property and equipment, intangible
assets and investment properties, or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss
previously recognized for an asset in prior years may no longer exist or may have decreased.  When
an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Company makes an estimate of the recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated
as the higher of the asset’s value in use or its fair value less costs to sell.

The fair value less costs to sell is the amount of obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length
transaction less cost to sell while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows
expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.  An
impairment loss is charged against income in the year in which it arises.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of an asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is credited to current
operations.

Equity
Capital stock
Capital stock is recognized as issued when the stock is paid for or subscribed under a binding
subscription agreement and is measured at par value.

Subscriptions receivable pertains to uncollected portion of subscribed stocks.  The Company
accounted for the subscription receivable as a contra equity account.

Retained Earnings
Retained earnings represent cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend distributions
(if any) to the shareholders, effect of changes in accounting policy and all other capital adjustments.

Dividends on Common Shares
Dividends on common shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from retained earnings when
the obligation to pay is established.  Cash dividends on common shares are recognized when approved
by the BOD of the Company.  In the case of stock dividends, approval of both the BOD and
shareholders are required before they are recognized.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable taking into account
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.  The Company assesses its
revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as a principal or
agent.  The Company has concluded that it is acting as principal in all of its revenue arrangements.
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PFRS 15 supersedes PAS 11, Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue and related
Interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts
with its customers.  PFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers.  The five-step model is as follows:

a. Identify the contract(s) with a customer
b. Identify the performance obligations in the contract
c. Determine the transaction price
d. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the contract
e. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Rental and finance income
Leasing income pertains to income from operating and finance leases.  Income from operating lease
(rental income) is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

For finance lease, the excess of aggregate lease rentals plus the estimated residual value over the cost
of the leased equipment constitutes the unearned lease income.  Residual values represent estimated
proceeds from the disposal of equipment at the time the lease is terminated.  The unearned lease
income is amortized over the term of the lease, commencing on the month the lease is executed,
based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor's net investment in the
finance lease.

Interest income
Interest income pertains to interest on receivables financed and cash in banks.  Interests on
receivables financed are included in the face value of the receivables with a corresponding credit to
the ‘Unearned income’ account.  This is amortized to income over the term of the financing
agreement using the effective interest method.

Interest income from cash in banks are recognized as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield
of the asset.

Sales from printing
Sales from printing are recognized when printing services are completed or rendered.

Other income
Other income pertains to gain/loss from disposal of assets which is the difference between the fair
value of the asset and the carrying amount of asset given up.

Cost and Expense Recognition
Cost and expense are recognized in the statement of income when decrease in future economic benefit
related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.
Cost and expense are recognized in the statement of income:
∂ on the basis of a direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific items of

income;
∂ on the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are

expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association can only be broadly or
indirectly determined; or

∂ immediately when expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the extent
that, future economic benefits do not qualify or cease to qualify, for recognition in the statement
of financial position as an asset.
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Interest Expense
Interest expense for all interest-bearing financial liabilities is recognized in ‘Interest expense’ in the
statement of income using the EIR of the financial liabilities to which they relate.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A
reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:
a. there is a change in contractual terms other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
b. a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension

was initially included in the lease term;
c. there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or
d. there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the
date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

As a lessor
Finance leases, where the Company transfers substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased item to the lessee, are included in the statement of financial position under
‘Receivables’.  A lease receivable is recognized at an amount equivalent to the net investment in the
lease, equivalent to the cost of the leased asset.  All income resulting from the receivable is included
under ‘Rental and finance income’ in the statement of income.

Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of
the assets are classified as operating leases.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating
leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the
same basis as the rental income.  Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which
they are earned.

As a lessee
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense under ‘Rent’ in
the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Retirement Benefits
The Company operates under defined benefit retirement plan and hybrid retirement plan which
require contributions to be made to separately administered funds.

The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted
for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit retirement plan is determined using the
projected unit credit method.
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Retirement costs comprise the following:

∂ service cost;
∂ net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and
∂ remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset.

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-
routine settlements are recognized as expense in the statement of income.  Past service costs are
recognized when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated
periodically by independent qualified actuaries.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying
the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.  Net interest
on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in the statement of
income.

Remeasurements comprising of actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are
not reclassified to the statement of income in subsequent periods.

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance
policies.  Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they be paid directly
to the Company.  Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information.  When no market
price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows
using a discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or
expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the
settlement of the related obligations).  If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present
value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is
limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability when they are accrued to the
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before twelve months
after the reporting date is recognized for services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Income Taxes
Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences at the
reporting date between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences that are expected to
increase taxable profit in the future.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary
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differences, carryforward benefits of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate
income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss
carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable income will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax credits
from excess MCIT over RCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets or liabilities,
however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of transaction, and affects neither the
accounting income nor taxable income.  Where the Company expects some or all of the provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement
is virtually certain.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit
will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the period when
the asset is realized or liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
asset against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized in equity are recognized in OCI.

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognized when the Company has an obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are
not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable.

Events after the Reporting Date
Post year-end events up to the date of the approval by the BOD that provide additional information
about the Company’s position at reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial
statements.  Post year-end events that are non-adjusting events are disclosed in notes to the financial
statements when material.

Standards Issued but not yet Effective
Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below.  The Company intends to adopt the
following pronouncements when they become effective.  Adoption of these pronouncements is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019

∂ Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

∂ PFRS 16, Leases
PFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar
to the accounting for finance leases under PAS 17, Leases. The standard includes two recognition
exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term
leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease,
a lessee will recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognize the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under PAS
17.  Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in PAS
17 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.  PFRS 16 also
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under PAS 17.  A lessee can
choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.

The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16.

∂ Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
∂ Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
∂ Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
∂ Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

o Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements,
Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation

o Amendments to PAS 12, Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments
Classified as Equity

o Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2020
∂ Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business
∂ Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8, Accounting Policies,

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2021
∂ PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

Deferred effectivity
∂ Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution

of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
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3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Company to make
judgments and estimates.  These estimates affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
contingent assets and liabilities, if any, at the reporting date, as well as the reported income and
expenses for the period.  Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and
judgment of current facts at the reporting date, the actual outcome may differ from these estimates,
which may possibly be significant.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments which have significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

a. Operating lease
As a lessor
The Company has entered into leases of transportation and computer equipment, and other
equipment under ‘Equipment held for lease’.  The Company has determined that it has retained
all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties as the present value of the
minimum lease payments does not cover substantially the fair value of the leased assets
(see Note 10).

b. Finance lease
The Company has entered into finance lease as a lessor.  The Company has determined that it has
transferred all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased
out under finance leases (see Note 17).

Estimates
a. Impairment of financial assets

Effective on or after January 1, 2018
The Company maintains an allowance for impairment losses based on the result of the individual
and collective assessment under PFRS 9.  The Company performs collective impairment by
grouping exposures into smaller homogeneous portfolios based on a combination of borrower and
account characteristics.  Accounts with similar risk attributes (i.e. facility, security, credit rating,
months-on-books, utilization and collateral type, etc.) are pooled together for calculating
provisions based on the ECL models.

Generally, the Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90
days past due.  However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be
in default when internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Company.  A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.  Treasury exposures are considered in default upon
occurrence of a credit event such as but not limited to bankruptcy of counterparty, restructuring,
failure to pay on an agreed settlement date, or request for moratorium.
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Effective before January 1, 2018
The Company reviews its receivables at end of reporting date to assess whether an allowance for
credit losses should be recorded in the statement of financial position and any changes for credit
losses should be recorded in the statement of financial position and any changes thereto in the
statement of income.  In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance required.  Such
estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors.  Actual results may differ resulting
in future changes to allowance. The carrying value of receivables is disclosed in Note 7.

b. EUL of equipment held for lease
The Company reviews annually the EUL of equipment held for lease based on the period over
which these are expected to be available for use.  It is possible that future results of operations
could be materially affected by changes in these estimates.  A reduction in the EUL of these
assets would increase recorded depreciation and decrease the carrying values.

The accounting policy for the EUL of equipment held for lease is disclosed in Note 2.

c. Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that the taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
Significant judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits.  The recognized and
unrecognized deferred tax assets are disclosed in Note 22.

d. Present value of retirement obligation
The cost of defined benefit plan is determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases and mortality rates.
Due to complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and long-term nature of these
plans are subject to significant uncertainty.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the market yields on
Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected benefit payout as at
reporting date and the extrapolated maturities corresponding to expected duration of the defined
benefit obligation.  Salary projection rate is based on the inflation rate and expected average
future salary increase rate of the employee, while the mortality rate is based on the 2001
Commissioners Standard Ordinary table.  While the Company believes that the assumptions are
reasonable and appropriate, significant differences between actual experience and assumptions
may materially affect the cost of employee benefits related obligations.

The present value of net defined benefit asset and significant assumptions used in measuring such
are disclosed in Note 21.

4. Fair Value Measurement

The Company uses a hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of its assets and
liabilities (see accounting policy on Fair Value Measurement).

The fair values of cash, current portion of finance and lease receivables, advances, accrued expenses
and other payables approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturities.
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The fair values of the Company’s investment properties have been determined based on valuations
made by independent appraiser based on the recent sales of similar properties in the same area as the
investment properties and taking into account the economic conditions prevailing at the time the
valuations were made and comparability of similar properties sold with the property being valued.

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and the fair values by level of the fair value
hierarchy of the Company’s assets and liabilities as at December 31:

2018

Carrying
Value

Fair value
measurement

using significant
unobservable

inputs (Level 3)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
Financial assets

Receivables
Receivables financed P=131,706,828 P=137,986,082
Lease receivables 6,913,031 7,196,251

138,619,859 145,182,333
Nonfinancial assets

Investment properties 10,351,267 13,805,000
P=10,351,267 P=13,805,000

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
Financial liabilities

Loans payable P=163,051,041 P=153,515,741
Lease deposits 71,237,758 70,837,350

P=234,288,799 P=224,353,091

2017

Carrying
Value

Fair value
measurement

using significant
unobservable

inputs (Level 3)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
Financial assets

Receivables
Receivables financed P=80,257,701 P=95,064,779
Lease receivables 6,572,497 7,442,089

86,830,198 102,506,868
Nonfinancial assets

Investment properties 10,019,266 10,585,000
P=96,849,464 P=113,091,868

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
Financial liabilities

Loans payable P=123,826,805 P=121,423,521
Lease deposits 64,478,120 64,478,120

P=188,304,925 P=185,901,641
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Fair values of receivables financed and lease receivables are estimated using the discounted cash flow
methodology using the Company’s lending rates for similar types of receivables.

Fair values of loans payable and lease deposits are estimated using the discounted cash flow
methodology using the Company’s incremental borrowing rates for borrowings with maturities
consistent with those remaining for the liability being valued.

There have been no changes in determining the fair value of financial instruments in 2018 and 2017.
There were no transfers of financial instruments between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in 2018 and 2017.

5. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

∂ Credit risk
∂ Liquidity risk
∂ Market risk

In line with the Center for Agricultural and Rural Development Mutually Reinforcing Institutions’
(CARD MRI) mission of “providing continued access to integrated microfinance and social
development services to an expanding membership base by organizing and empowering women and
their families”, risk management framework of the Company involves identifying and assessing risks,
designing strategies and implementing policies to mitigate risks, and conducting evaluation for
adjustments needed to minimize risks.

The BOD is responsible for monitoring the Company’s implementation of risk management policies
and procedures and for reviewing the adequacy of risk management framework in relation to the risks
faced by the Company.  Risk Management of the Company is strengthened in conjunction with the
Internal Audit (IA) functions of CARD MRI Group.  IA undertakes both regular audit examination
and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to
the BOD.

Credit Risk
The Company manages credit risk by assessing the creditworthiness of its counterparties.  The
Company continuously monitors the financial health and status of its counterparties to ascertain that
receivables from these counterparties will be substantially collected on due date or in the future.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of the borrowers and
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending
limits when appropriate.

Maximum exposure to credit risk after collateral held or other credit enhancements
Except for receivables financed, the maximum exposure of the Company’s financial instruments is
equivalent to the carrying values as reflected in the statements of financial position and related notes.
The table below shows the analysis of the maximum exposure to credit risk, net of allowance for
credit losses, of receivables financed as at December 31, 2018 and 2017:
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2018

Carrying
Amount

Fair Value of
Collateral

Maximum
Exposure to
Credit Risk

Financial
Effect

of Collateral
or

Credit
Enhancement

Receivables financed P=131,706,828 P=19,707,964 P=111,998,864 P=17,803,712

2017

Carrying
Amount

Fair Value of
Collateral

Maximum
Exposure to
Credit Risk

Financial
Effect

of Collateral
or

Credit
Enhancement

Receivables financed P=80,257,701 P=8,670,515 P=74,781,055 P=5,476,647

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, credit enhancement for receivables financed consists of real
estate mortgage.

The Company has no financial instruments with right to offset in accordance with PAS 32, Financial
Instruments: Presentation, as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.  There are also no financial
instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangements of similar agreements
which require disclosure in the financial statements in accordance with amendments of PFRS 7.

Concentration of credit risk
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or
other conditions.  As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s cash in banks and receivables
are concentrated to financial intermediaries and corporate and individual borrowers, respectively.

Credit quality per class of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets is monitored and managed based on the credit standing and
history.

High grade - These are bank deposits, receivables or advances which have a high probability of
collection.  The counterparty has the apparent ability to satisfy its obligation and the securities on the
receivables are readily enforceable.

Standard grade - These are bank deposits, receivables or advances where collections are probable due
to the reputation and the financial ability of the counterparty to pay but with experience of default.
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The following tables illustrate the Bank’s credit exposures as at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
ECL Staging

Cash in banks
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total Total
Neither past due nor impaired

High grade P=25,800,263 P=− P=− P=25,800,263 P=34,543,218
Standard grade − − − − −

Past due but not impaired − − − − −
Past due and impaired − − − − −

Gross carrying amount P=25,800,263 P=− P=− P=25,800,263 P=34,543,218

Loans and receivables

2018 2017
ECL Staging

Receivable finances
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total Total
Neither past due nor impaired

High grade P=137,846,434 P=− P=− P=137,846,434 P=83,602,228
Standard grade − − − − −

Past due but not impaired − 23,888 − 23,888 −
Past due and impaired − − − − −

Gross carrying amount P=137,846,434 P=23,888 P=− P=137,870,322 P=83,602,228

2018 2017
ECL Staging

Lease receivables
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total Total
Neither past due nor impaired

High grade P=7,175,142 P=− P=− P=7,175,142 P=6,848,574
Standard grade − − − − −

Past due but not impaired − 13,966 − 13,966 −
Past due and impaired − − − − −

Gross carrying amount P=7,175,142 P=13,966 P=− P=7,189,107 P=6,848,574

2018 2017
ECL Staging

Other receivables
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total Total
Neither past due nor impaired

High grade P=1,513,977 P=− P=− P=1,513,977 P=4,428,331
Standard grade − − − − −

Past due but not impaired − − − − −
Past due and impaired − − − − −

Gross carrying amount P=1,513,977 P=− P=− P=1,513,977 P=4,428,331

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, Company’s receivables that are past due for more than 90 days
are considered impaired.

The following tables show the total aggregate amount of receivables from members that are
contractually past due but not considered as impaired per delinquency bucket as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017:

December 31, 2018
Less than

30 Days 31 to 60 Days
61 to 90

Days Total
Receivables financed P=1,774 P=– P=22,114 P=23,888
Finance lease receivables – – 13,966 13,966

P=1,774 P=– P=36,080 P=37,854
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December 31, 2017
Less than

30 Days 31 to 60 Days
61 to 90

Days Total
Receivables financed P=– P=– P=5,732 P=5,732
Finance lease receivables – – 12,021 12,021

P=– P=– P=17,753 P=17,753

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is generally defined as the current and prospective risk to earnings or capital arising
from the Company’s inability to meet its obligations when they come due without incurring
unacceptable losses or costs.

Liquidity risk is managed by the Company through holding sufficient liquid assets and appropriate
assessment to ensure short-term funding requirements are met and by ensuring the high collection
performance at all times.  In addition, the Company maintains sufficient liquid assets to take
advantage of favorable investment opportunities when it arises.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has unused credit line with CARD MERP
amounting to P=75.00 million and P=83.00 million, respectively, and with a government bank
amounting to P=100.00 million and P=42.00 million, respectively.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the financial instruments of the Company based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows:

2018

On demand
Due within

1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to12 months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Cash in banks P=25,800,263 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=25,800,263
Receivables:

Receivables financed* – 6,582,543 13,586,313 70,492,033 74,017,235 164,678,124
Lease receivables* – 452,298 905,319 3,204,110 3,827,588 8,389,315

 Receivables from
      related parties

(Note 23) – 698,042 – – – 698,042
Accrued receivables 734,364 – – – 734,364
Accounts receivables – 81,571 – – – 81,571

Total Financial Assets 25,800,263 8,548,818 14,491,632 73,696,143 77,844,824 200,381,680
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables:

Trade payables – 6,073,735 – – – 6,073,735
Accrued expenses – 2,806,783 – – – 2,806,783
Payable to related parties – 234,809 – – – 234,809

 Accrued interest payable – 2,152,349 – – – 2,152,349
Lease deposits – 2,219,220 10,626,102 35,618,328 16,929,861 65,393,511
Loans payable* – – – 117,732,265 46,932,225 164,664,490
Total Financial Liabilities – 13,486,896 10,626,102 153,350,593 63,862,087 241,325,677
Net P=25,800,263 (P=4,938,078) P=3,865,530 (P=79,654,450) P=13,982,737 (P=40,943,997)
*includes undiscounted future interest

(Forward)
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2017

On demand
Due within

1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to12 months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Cash in banks P=34,543,218 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=34,543,218
Receivables:

Receivables financed* – 3,763,661 7,166,937 35,667,227 56,027,912 102,625,738
Lease receivables* – 421,220 830,403 3,105,414 3,685,041 8,042,078

 Receivables from
      related parties – 3,817,300 – – – 3,817,300

Accrued receivables 345,593 – – – 345,593
Accounts receivables – 265,438 – – – 265,438

Total Financial Assets 34,543,218 8,613,212 7,997,340 38,772,641 59,712,953 149,639,364

(Forward)
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables:

Trade payables P=– P=14,628,619 P=5,836,971 P=– P=– P=20,465,590
Accrued expenses – 3,967,918 3,967,918
Payable to related parties – 1,022,926 – – – 1,022,926
Accrued interest payable – 906,055 – – – 906,055

Lease deposits – – 8,900,018 32,969,975 22,608,127 64,478,120
Loans payable* – – 22,427,199 56,742,939 45,058,515 124,228,653
Total Financial Liabilities – 20,525,518 37,164,188 89,712,914 67,666,642 215,069,262
Net P=34,543,218 (P=11,912,306) (P=29,166,848) (P=50,940,273) (P=7,953,689) (P=65,429,898)
*includes undiscounted future interest

6. Cash

This account consists of:

2018 2017
Petty cash P=10,000 P=5,930
Cash in banks (Note 23) 25,800,263 34,543,218

P=25,810,263 P=34,549,148

Cash in banks consist of current and savings deposit accounts earning annual interest rates ranging
from 0.10% to 1.50% in 2018 and 2017.

Interest income earned from cash in banks amounted to P=0.2 million and P=0.1 million in 2018 and
2017, respectively (Note 18).

7. Receivables

This account consists of:

2018 2017
Receivables financed P=164,678,124 P=102,625,738
Unearned finance income (26,807,802) (19,023,510)

137,870,322 83,602,228
Finance lease receivables 8,389,315 8,042,078
Unearned lease income (1,200,208) (1,193,504)

P=7,189,107 P=6,848,574
(Forward)
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2018 2017
Other receivables

Receivable from related parties P=698,042 P=3,817,300
Accrued interest receivables 734,364 345,593
Accounts receivables (Note 23) 81,571 265,438

1,513,977 4,428,331
146,573,406 94,879,133

Less: Allowance for credit losses 6,439,571 3,620,603
P=140,133,835 P=91,258,530

Receivables financed consist of loans to employees of the Company’s related parties (see Note 23),
affiliates within and outside the CARD MRI Group.  The effective interest rates in financing the
receivables range from 8.00% to 16.00% in 2018 and 8.00% to 14.00% in 2017.  Interest income
earned from receivables financed amounted to P=12.33 million and P=9.18 million in 2018 and 2017,
respectively (Note 18).

Lease receivables pertain to finance lease of transportation vehicles, computer equipment and
gadgets.

Accrued receivables are interest and lease income due next month from receivables financed and
lease receivable.

During 2017, a loan amounting to P=2.87 million was settled through foreclosure of the related land
collateral.  The collateral is recognized under ‘Investment properties’ at a cost of P=2.87 million which
included transaction costs.  The settlement did not result in a gain or loss.

An analysis of receivables as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented as follows:

2018
Receivables

financed
Lease

receivables
Other

receivables Total
Receivables P=164,678,124 P=8,389,315 P=1,513,977 P=174,581,416
Less: Unearned income 26,807,802 1,200,208 – 28,008,010

137,870,322 7,189,107 1,513,977 146,573,406
Less: Allowance for credit

losses 6,163,494 276,077 – 6,439,571
P=131,706,828 P=6,913,030 P=1,513,977 P=140,133,835

Current portion P=73,868,866 P=3,750,787 P=1,513,977 P=79,133,630
Noncurrent portion P=57,837,962 P=3,162,243 P=– P=61,000,205
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2017
Receivables

financed
Lease

receivables
Other

receivables Total
Receivables P=102,625,738 P=8,042,078 P=4,428,331 P=115,096,147
Less: Unearned income 19,023,510 1,193,504 – 20,217,014

83,602,228 6,848,574 4,428,331 94,879,133
Less: Allowance for credit

losses 3,344,526 276,077 – 3,620,603
P=80,257,702 P=6,572,497 P=4,428,331 P=91,258,530

Current portion P=36,783,416 P=3,595,157 P=4,428,331 P=44,806,904
Noncurrent portion P=43,474,286 P=2,977,340 P=– P=46,451,626

The reconciliation of gross investment in lease receivables and the present value of minimum lease
payments receivable as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented as follows:

2018
Not

later than
1 year

Later than
 1 year

up to 5 years Total
Gross investment P=4,561,726 P=3,827,589 P=8,389,315
Less: Unearned income 749,192 451,016 1,200,208
Net investment 3,812,534 3,376,573 7,189,107
Less: Allowance for credit losses 61,747 214,330 276,077
Net investment P=3,750,787 P=3,162,243 P=6,913,030

2017
Not

later than
1 year

Later than
1 year

up to 5 years Total
Gross investment P=4,357,037 P=3,685,041 P=8,042,078
Less: Unearned income 700,134 493,370 1,193,504
Net investment 3,656,903 3,191,671 6,848,574
Less: Allowance for credit losses 61,747 214,330 276,077
Net investment P=3,595,156 P=2,977,341 P=6,572,497

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount (excluding cash on hand) and the corresponding
ECL allowances is, as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Total

Loans receivables
12-month

ECL Lifetime ECL

Gross carrying amount as
      at January 1, 2018 P=92,291,559 P=13,753 P=– P=92,305,312
Movements in outstanding balance 54,245,767 22,327 – 54,268,094
Transfers to stages – – – –
Gross carrying amount as at
December 31, 2018 P=146,537,326 P=36,080 P=– P=146,573,406
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Total12-month

ECL Lifetime ECL

ECL allowance as at January 1, 2018 P=3,608,582 P=12,021 P=– P=3,620,603
Movements in outstanding balance 2,802,106 16,862 – 2,818,968
Transfers to stages – – – –
Loss allowance as at
      December 31, 2018 P=6,410,688 P=28,883 P=– P=6,439,571

Movements in the allowance for credit losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 follow:

2018
Receivables

financed
Lease

receivables Total
Balance at beginning of year P=3,344,526 P=276,077 P=3,620,603
Provision (reversal) during the

year 2,818,967 –
2,818,967

Accounts written-off – – –
Balance at end of year P=6,163,494 P=276,077 P=6,439,571
Current portion P=2,951,587 P=61,747 P=3,013,334
Noncurrent portion P=3,211,907 P=214,330 P=3,426,237

2017
Receivables

financed
Lease

receivables Total
Balance at beginning of year P=2,727,209 P=468,538 P=3,195,747
Provision (reversal) during the

year 661,148 (82,427)
578,721

Accounts written-off (43,831) (110,034) (153,865)
Balance at end of year P=3,344,526 P=276,077 P=3,620,603
Current portion P=1,604,817 P=61,747 P=1,666,564
Noncurrent portion P=1,739,709 P=214,330 P=1,954,039

Section 9(f) of Republic Act (RA) No. 8556, also known as The Financing Company Act of 1998,
requires that 100% allowance for credit losses should be set up for the following:

a. Clean loans and advances past due for a period of more than six (6) months;
b. Past due loans secured by collateral such as inventories, receivables, equipment and other chattels

that have declined in value by more than 50.00%, without the borrower offering additional
collateral for the loans;

c. Past due loans secured by real estate mortgage title to which is subject to an adverse claim
rendering settlement through foreclosure doubtful;

d. When borrower and his co-maker or guarantor are insolvent, or where their whereabouts are
unknown, or their earnings power is permanently impaired;

e. Accrued interest receivable that remain uncollected after six months from the maturity date of
such loans to which it accrues; and

f. Accounts receivable past due for 361 days or more.

The Company is in compliance with the provisioning requirements of RA No. 8556.
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8. Inventories

This account consists of forms, slips and ledgers used as supplies that are available for sale.  As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, inventories amounted to P=4,285 and P=108,475, respectively.

Total cost of inventories recognized under ‘Cost of sales’ in the statements of income amounted to
P=59.36 million and P=43.45 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively (Note 16).

9. Other Current Assets

This account consists of prepaid expenses that pertain to prepaid insurance.  As of December 31,
2018 and 2017, prepaid expenses amounted to P=0.21 million and P=0.82 million, respectively.

In 2018 and 2017, the Company applied creditable withholding taxes against income tax payable
amounting to P=10.9 million and P=8.4 million, respectively.

10. Equipment Held for Lease

The composition of and movements of property and equipment follow:

2018
Transportation

equipment
Computer
equipment

Furniture
and fixtures Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=242,878,296 P=183,805,095 P=2,155,042 P=428,838,433
Additions 52,142,267 50,800,697 965,840 103,908,804
Disposals (8,128,048) (1,094,007) – (9,222,055)
Balance at end of year 286,892,515 233,511,785 3,120,882 523,525,182
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year 147,896,013 93,134,226 1,795,792 242,826,031
Depreciation 42,717,378 41,308,314 313,219 84,338,911
Disposals (6,024,058) (984,588) – (7,008,646)
Transfers – (109,419) 109,419 –
Balance at end of year 184,589,333 133,348,533 2,218,430 320,156,296
Net Book Value P=102,303,182 P=100,163,252 P=902,452 P=203,368,886

2017
Transportation

equipment
Computer
equipment

Furniture
and fixtures Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=188,860,294 P=126,287,508 P=2,038,804 P=317,186,606
Additions 55,037,236 59,437,486 116,238 114,590,960
Disposals (1,019,234) (1,947,578) – (2,966,812)
Transfers (Note 10) – 27,679 – 27,679
Balance at end of year 242,878,296 183,805,095 2,155,042 428,838,433
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year 99,413,211 56,725,086 1,537,523 157,675,820
Depreciation 49,237,807 38,356,718 258,269 87,852,794
Disposals (755,005) (1,947,578) – (2,702,583)
Balance at end of year 147,896,013 93,134,226 1,795,792 242,826,031
Net Book Value P=94,982,283 P=90,670,869 P=359,250 P=186,012,402
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As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, refundable lease deposits on equipment held for lease amounted
to P=65.39 million and P=64.48 million, respectively.

The details of depreciation and amortization recorded in the statements of income follow:

2018 2017
Equipment held for lease P=84,338,911 P=87,852,794
Property and equipment (Note 11) 434,658 550,482
Investment Property 588,000 –

P=85,361,568 P=88,403,276

11. Property and Equipment and Investment Properties

The composition of and movements in this account follow:

2018
Transportation

equipment
Printing

equipment
Computer
equipment

Furniture
and fixtures Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=925,893 P=1,805,086 P=516,151 P=93,906 P=3,341,036
Additions – – 111,786 59,025 170,811
Balance at end of year 925,893 1,805,086 627,937 152,931 3,511,847
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year 925,892 1,096,745 235,688 93,901 2,352,226
Depreciation – 283,333 134,929 16,396 434,658
Balance at end of year 925,892 1,380,078 370,617 110,297 2,786,884
Net Book Value P=1 P=425,008 P=257,320 P=42,634 P=724,963

2017
Transportation

equipment
Printing

equipment
Computer
equipment

Furniture
and fixtures Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=925,893 P=955,086 P=470,615 P=93,906 P=2,445,500
Additions – 850,000 73,215 – 923,215
Transfer – – (27,679) – (27,679)
Balance at end of year 925,893 1,805,086 516,151 93,906 3,341,036
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year 642,981 953,007 114,532 91,224 1,801,744
Depreciation 282,911 143,738 121,156 2,677 550,482
Balance at end of year 925,892 1,096,745 235,688 93,901 2,352,226
Net Book Value P=1 P=708,341 P=280,463 P=5 P=988,810

The cost of fully-depreciated assets still in use as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to
P=2.11 million and P=1.67 million, respectively.

12. Other Noncurrent Assets

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded a deferred input VAT amounting to
P=18.90 and P=17.13 million related to the amortization of input tax on capital goods purchased with an
acquisition cost of which exceeds P=1.00 million and for use in trade or business shall be spread
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evenly over the month of acquisition and the 59 succeeding months.  If, however, the estimated useful
life of the capital good is less than five (5) years, the input VAT theron shall be spread over such a
shorter period.

13. Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables consist of:

2018 2017
Financial liabilities
Unearned rent income P=7,329,828 P=3,251,762
Trade payables 6,073,735 20,465,590
Accrued expenses 2,806,783 3,967,918
Accrued interest payable (Note 23) 2,152,349 906,055
Payable to related parties (Note 23) 234,809 1,022,926
Unearned sales revenue – 105,650

18,597,504 29,719,901
Nonfinancial liabilities
Withholding tax payable 415,417 453,409

P=19,012,921 P=30,173,310

Trade payables are due to suppliers for inventory and other purchases.  Accrued expenses pertain
mainly to accumulated vacation leave, unpaid professional fees, and salaries and wages.

14. Loans Payable

Loans payable pertain to borrowings availed from CARD MERP and a government bank which bear
annual interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 7.32% and 4.51% to 5.37% in 2018 and 2017,
respectively, and have tenor of 2 to 5 years (Note 23).

An analysis of loans payable is presented as follows:

2018 2017
Face Value
Balance at beginning of year P=124,270,138 P=125,145,601
Availments 170,000,000 80,000,000
Principal payments (129,500,763) (80,875,463)
Balance at end of year 164,769,375 124,270,138
Net Discount
Balance at beginning of year 443,333 493,841
Availments 1,275,000 400,000
Amortization 63,400 (450,508)
Balance at end of year 1,781,733 443,333
Carrying Value P=162,987,642 P=123,826,805

Interest expense on loans payable amounted to P=11.64 million and P=9.32 million in 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
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15. Equity

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s capital stock consists of:

2018 2017
Shares Amount Shares Amount

Common stock - P=100 par
value, 1,000,000
authorized shares

Issued and outstanding at
beginning of year 1,000,000 P=100,000,000 735,000 P=73,500,000

Additional subscriptions – – 154,750 15,475,000
Stock dividends – – 110,250 11,025,000
Common stock at end of year 1,000,000 100,000,000 1,000,000 100,000,000
Subscriptions receivable – (2,342,165) – (21,964,480)

1,000,000 P=97,657,835 1,000,000 P=78,035,520

Dividends
Cash dividends
On August 10, 2018, the B`OD and shareholders declared and approved cash dividends amounting to
P=15.00 per share with a total amount of P=15.00 million based on the audited financial statements.

On December 7, 2018, the BOD declared cash dividends amounting to P=1.20 per share with a total
amount of P=31.20 million based on the December 31, 2017 audited financial statements.

2017 Cash dividends
On May 12, 2017, the BOD and shareholders declared and approved cash and stock dividends
amounting to P=20.00 per share with a total amount of P=14.70 million based on the audited financial
statements and stockholders on record as of December 31, 2016.  Cash dividends distributed in May
2017 amounted to P=3.68 million and stock dividends distributed in June 2017 amounted to
P=11.02 million.

On September 8, 2017, the BOD declared cash dividends amounting to P=10.00 per share with a total
amount of P=10.00 million based on the December 31, 2016 audited financial statements and
stockholders on record as of July 31, 2017.

Subscriptions Receivable
The Company’s shareholders partially settled subscriptions of P=19.62 and P=16.49 million in 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Capital Management
The Company manages its capital structure and appropriately effect adjustment according to the
changes in economic conditions and the risk level it recognizes at every point of time in the course of
its business operations.  In order to maintain or adjust for good capital structure, the Company
carefully measures the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, call payment due from the
capital subscribers or issue capital securities as necessary.
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Under Section 6 of RA No. 8556, financing companies shall be organized in the form of stock
corporations at least forty percent (40.00%) of which is owned by the citizens of the Philippines and
shall have a paid-up capital of not less than P=10.00 million in case the financing company is located
in Metro Manila and other first class cities, P=5.00 million in other classes of cities and P=2.50 million
in municipalities.  As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company is in compliance with the
requirements of Section 6 of RA No. 8556.

16. Cost of sales

The movements in this account follow:

2018 2017
Inventories at beginning of year P=108,475 P=500,780
Purchases 59,257,328 43,057,102
Inventories available for sale 59,365,803 43,557,882
Inventories at end of year (4,285) (108,475)

P=59,361,518 P=43,449,407

17. Leases

This account consists of:

2018 2017
Operating income P=193,273,343 P=156,679,059
Finance income 1,435,329 1,318,135

P=194,708,672 P=157,997,194

Operating leases - Company as a lessor
The Company entered into non-cancellable operating leases of its equipment held for lease with its
related and third parties for terms of not more than eighteen (84) months.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases follow:

2018 2017
Within one year P=181,488,000 P=141,812,000
After one year but not more than five years 15,313,200 14,772,090

P=196,801,200 P=156,584,090

Operating leases - Company as a lessee
The Company leases its office premises from a related party for a period of three (3) years.  The lease
is renewable upon mutual agreement between the Company and lessor.  For the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, rent expense recognized under ‘Rent’ amounted to P=0.14 million and
P=0.17 million, respectively.

Finance leases - Company as a lessor
The Company entered into finance lease agreements with the employees of related parties which bear
annual interest rates ranging from 8.00% to 14.00% in 2018 and 2017, and have maturity of six (6)
months to seven (7) years (see Note 7).
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18. Interest Income

This account consists of:

2018 2017
Receivable financed P=12,328,821 P=9,176,511
Cash in banks (Note 6) 192,784 120,057

P=12,521,605 P=9,296,568

19. Compensation and Benefits

This account consists of:

2018 2017
Salaries and wages P=4,113,545 P=1,475,232
Short-term employee benefits 2,358,972 1,301,887
Retirement benefits (Note 21) 6,940 22,234

P=6,479,457 P=2,799,353

20. Miscellaneous

This account consists of:

2018 2017
Scholarship program (Note 23) P=10,000,000 P=2,000,000
Information technology 748,521 593,432
Repairs and maintenance 426,566 204,774
Fines and penalties 145,232 1,402,294
Communication and postage 139,904 162,630
Utilities 114,812 64,298
Supervision and examination 63,854 14,869
Advertising 39,086 87,243
Representation 18,198 63,616
Others 293,046 490,955

P=11,989,219 P=5,084,111

Scholarship program pertains to donation to a related party.

Others pertain to expenses related to processing fees, bank service charges, and other small value
expenses that are non-recurring.
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21. Retirement Benefits

The Company, Rizal Bank, Inc., CARD Bank, Inc., CARD MRI Development Institute, Inc., CARD
Mutual Benefit Association, Inc., CARD SME Bank, Inc., CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc.,
CARD Business Development Service Foundation, Inc., BotiCARD, Inc., CARD Employees Multi-
Purpose Cooperative, Responsible for Investments and Solidarity Empowerment Financing
Company, Inc., CARD MRI Information Technology, Inc., CARD, Inc., Mga Likha ni Inay, Inc., and
other related parties maintain a funded and formal noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan – a
multi-employer retirement plan (MERP or the Plan) – with CARD MERP covering all of their regular
employees and CARD Group Employees’ Retirement Plan (Hybrid Plan) applicable to employees
hired on or after July 1, 2016.  The Plan is valued using the projected unit cost method and is financed
solely by the Company and its related parties.

The Plan and Hybrid Plan are compliant with the requirements of RA No. 7641 (Retirement Law).
The Plan provides lump sum benefits equivalent to up to 120% of final salary for every year of
credited service, a fraction of at least six (6) months being considered as one whole year, upon
retirement, death, total and permanent disability, or voluntary separation after completion of at least
one year of service with the participating companies.

Hybrid Plan provides a retirement benefit equal to 100% of the member’s employer accumulated
value (the Company’s contributions of 8% plan salary to Fund A plus credited earnings) and 100% of
the member’s employee accumulated value (member’s own contributions up to 10% of plan salary to
Fund B plus credited earnings), if any.  Provided that in no case shall 100% of the employer
accumulated value in Fund A be less than 100% of plan salary for every year of credited service.

As of December 31, 2018 the Company has one (1) employee covered under Hybrid Plan and nil in
2017.

The latest actuarial valuation report covers reporting period as at December 31, 2018.

The maximum economic benefit of plan assets available is a combination of expected refunds from
the plan and reduction in future contributions.  The fair values of plan assets by each class as at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents P=2,888,674 P=2,729,730
Debt securities - government securities 3,255,448 3,486,185
Other assets 358,971 408,035

P=6,503,093 P=6,623,950

All plan assets do not have quoted prices in active market except government debt securities.  Cash
and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions and related parties and are
deemed to be high grade.  Other assets are unrated.

The plan assets have diverse investments and do not have any concentration risk other than those
government debt securities which are considered low risk.

The overall investment policy and strategy of the Company’s defined benefit plans is guided by the
objective of achieving an investment return which, together with contributions, ensures that there will
be sufficient assets to pay pension benefits as they fall due while also mitigating the various risk of
the plans.
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The cost of defined retirement plan as well as the present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation involves making various
assumptions.  The principal assumptions used in determining pension for the defined benefit plans are
shown below:

2018 2017
Discount rate 7.70% 5.77%
Future salary increases 5.00% 5.00%

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the reporting period,
assuming if all other assumptions were held constant:

2018 2017
+1.0% -1.0% +1.0% -1.0%

Discount rate (P=330,880) P=388,211 (P=230,870) P=277,483
Salary rate 394,969 (341,723) 257,101 (219,267)

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 11.4 and
13.6 years, respectively.

Shown below is the twenty-five year maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments:

2018 2017
Less than 1 year P=162,399 P=50,618
More than 1 year to 5 years 825,959 285,447
More than 5 years to 10 years 2,174,731 1,209,646
More than 10 years to 15 years 2,185,572 977,672
More than 15 years to 20 years 7,500,048 850,402
More than 20 years to 25 years 2,819,863 4,701,302
More than 25 years 3,719,298 3,157,775

P=19,387,870 P=11,232,862
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22. Income Taxes

Income taxes include corporate income tax and final tax paid at the rate of 20.00% on gross interest
income from deposit substitutes.  These income taxes, as well as the deferred tax benefits and
provisions, are presented as ‘Provision for income tax’ in the statements of income.

Current tax regulations provide that RCIT rate shall be 30.00%.  Interest expense allowed as a
deductible expense is reduced by 33.00% of interest income subjected to final tax.

In addition, effective September 1, 2002, Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 10-2002 provides for the
ceiling on the amount of entertainment, amusement and recreation (EAR) expense that can be
claimed as a deduction against taxable income.  Under the regulation, EAR allowed as a deductible
expense is limited to the actual EAR paid or incurred but not to exceed 1.00% of net revenue for
companies engaged in the sale of services.

An MCIT of 2.00% on modified gross income is computed and compared with RCIT.  Any excess of
MCIT over RCIT is deferred and can be used as a tax credit against future income tax liability for the
next three years.  Imposition of MCIT will commence on the Company’s fourth taxable year
immediately following the year in which the Company commenced its business operations.

In addition, NOLCO is allowed as a deduction from taxable income in the next three years from the
period of incurrence.

The provision for income tax consists of:

2018 2017
Current:

Regular P=21,951,121 P=13,318,371
Final 38,557 24,011

21,989,678 13,342,382
Deferred (897,738) (622,410)

P=21,091,934 P=12,719,972

The components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) follow:

2018 2017
Deferred tax assets

Allowance for credit losses P=1,931,871 P=1,086,181
Accrued vacation leave 124,139 62,079
Unamortized past service cost 50,060 60,072

2,106,070 1,208,332
Deferred tax liabilities

Retirement asset (620,121) (758,954)
Net deferred tax assets P=1,485,949 P=449,378

The deferred tax arising from remeasurement gain (loss) amounting to P=0.14 million and
P=0.02 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively, were directly charged against OCI.
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company has no unrecognized deferred tax assets.

Reconciliation between the statutory income tax and the effective income tax follows:

2018 2017
Statutory income tax P=21,058,191 P=13,177,712
Tax effects of:

Non-deductible expenses 53,021 176,676
Tax paid income (19,278) (12,006)
Movement of unrecognized deferred tax assets – (622,410)

Provision for income tax P=21,091,934 P=12,719,972

23. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions.  The Company’s related parties include:

∂ key management personnel, close family members of key management personnel and entities
which are controlled, significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power is held by
key management personnel or their close family members,

∂ post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of the Company’s employees, and
∂ affiliates within the CARD MRI Group.

The Company has several business relationships with related parties.  Transactions with such parties
are made in the ordinary course of business and on substantially same terms, including interest and
collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other parties.  These
transactions also did not involve more than the normal risk of collectability or present other
unfavorable conditions.

Transactions with retirement plan
Under PFRS, certain post-employment benefit plans are considered as related parties. MERP is a
stand-alone entity assigned in facilitating the contributions to retirement starting 2005.  The Company
has a business relationship with MERP, from which it obtains financing for its working capital
requirements.

A summary of transactions with MERP follows:

2018 2017
Loans payable P=40,000,000 P=66,333,333
Interest expense 4,104,836 5,438,361
Contributions to the retirement plan 6,919 148,825

Remunerations of directors and other key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly.  The Company
considers the members of the BOD and senior management to constitute key management personnel
for purposes of PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures.
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The compensation of key management personnel and director’s fee included under ‘Compensation
and benefits’ in the statements of income amounted to P=2.33 million and P=1.10 million in 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Other related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its key management personnel meet the definition of related
party transactions.  Transactions between the Company and its affiliates within the CARDMRI also
qualify as related party transactions.

Related party transactions of the Company follow:

2018
Category Amount / Volume Outstanding Balance Nature, Terms and Conditions

Shareholder
Accounts receivables P=53,723 This pertains to the unpaid rent, held for

lease and billings on inventories sold
(non-interest bearing, unimpaired,
due and demandable).

Billings P=131,050,905
 Collections (131,947,662)

Accounts payable 115,199 This pertains to unpaid share of
expenses incurred.Billings 2,800,329

Payments (2,932,379)
Other related parties
Cash in banks 11,400,993 This pertains to due and demandable

savings deposit accounts and interest
income with annual interest rates
ranging from 0.10% to 1.50%

Deposits 212,876,090
 Withdrawals (220,432,195)

Receivables financed This pertains to loans to another CARD
MRI entity with annual interest rates
of 8.00%.

Issuances 14,783,411 12,001,762
Repayments (2,781,649)

Accounts receivables 644,319 This pertains to the unpaid rent, held for
lease and billings on inventories sold
(non-interest bearing, unimpaired,
due and demandable).

Billings 207,476,485
 Collections (209,696,766)

Accounts payable 119,610 This pertains to unpaid share of
expenses incurred.Billings 2,867,062

Payments (3,523,128)
Loans payable 40,000,000 This pertains to loan agreements bearing

interest of 4.00% to 7.32% per
annum with maturity of three years.

Availments –
Payments 26,333,333

Accrued interest payable 1,274,560 This pertains to interest on loans
payable.Interest expense 4,104,836

Payments (2,858,542)
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2017
Category Amount / Volume Outstanding Balance Nature, Terms and Conditions
Shareholder
Accounts receivables P=950,480 This pertains to the unpaid rent, held

for lease and billings on
inventories sold (non-interest
bearing, unimpaired, due and
demandable).

Billings P=136,033,079
 Collections (135,082,599)

Accounts payable 247,248 This pertains to unpaid share of
expenses incurred. Billings 2,927,351

Payments (3,787,553)
Other related parties
Cash in banks 18,957,097 This pertains to due and demandable

savings deposit accounts and
interest income with annual
interest rates ranging from 0.10%
to 1.50%

Deposits 123,175,532
 Withdrawals (116,930,093)

Receivables financed 8,586,450 This pertains to loans to another
CARD MRI entity with annual
interest rates of 8.00%.

Issuances 10,995,628
Repayments (13,988,723)

(Forward)
Accounts receivable P=2,864,600 This pertains to the unpaid rent, held

for lease and billings on
inventories sold (non-interest
bearing, unimpaired, due and
demandable).

Billings P=182,679,097
 Collections (180,041,682)

Accounts payable 775,677 This pertains to unpaid share of
expenses incurred.Billings 1,681,028

Payments (1,791,758)
Loans payable 66,333,333 This pertains to loan agreements

bearing interest of 4.51% to 5.37%
per annum with maturity of three
years.

Availments –
 Payments (49,000,000)

Accrued interest payable 28,266 This pertains to interest on loans
payable. Interest expense 4,456,058

Payments (4,541,000)

24. Notes to Statements of Cash Flows

Noncash activities of the Company consist of the following:

2018 2017
Noncash investing activities:

Decrease in other current assets due to application of
creditable tax into income tax payable P=10,858,853 P=8,453,468

Decrease in receivables due to reclassification to
investment properties – 2,873,484

Disposal of investment properties through receivables
financing – 2,375,177

Decrease in other current assets through receivables
financing – 52,000

Noncash financing activities
Declaration of stock dividends – 11,025,000
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Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below shows the reconciliation analysis arising from financing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Beginning Cash flows Amortization Ending
Loans payable - 2018 P=123,826,805 P=39,097,437 P=63,400 P=162,987,642
Loans payable - 2017 124,651,760 (1,275,363) 450,408 123,826,805

25. Approval of the Release of the Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Company were reviewed and approved for release by
the Company’s BOD on April 9, 2019.

26. Supplementary Information Required under Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010

On November 25, 2010, the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued RR No. 15-2010 to amend
certain provisions of RR No. 21-2002 which provides that starting 2010, the notes to the financial
statements shall include information on taxes, duties and licenses paid or accrued during the year.

Taxes and Licenses
The components of ‘Taxes and licenses’ recognized in the statements of income follow:

Documentary stamp taxes P=176,565
Business permits and licenses 155,078
Capital gains tax 152,996
SEC registration 96,050
Others 569,664

P=1,150,353

Withholding Taxes
The following withholding taxes in 2018 are categorized into:

Total
Remittances

Balance as at
December 31,

2018
Expanded withholding taxes
Final withholding taxes

P=2,320,234
963,363

P=176,429
38,535

Withholding tax on compensation and benefits 219,194 200,453
P=3,502,791 P=415,417

Value-Added Tax
The National Internal Revenue Code of 1997 also provides for the imposition of VAT on sales of
goods and services.  Accordingly, the Company’s sales are subject to output VAT while its
importations and purchases from other VAT-registered individuals or corporations are subject to
input VAT.  VAT rate is 12.00% effective February 1, 2006.
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Details of the Company’s input tax claimed are as follows:

Balance at beginning of year P=4,191,234
Current year’s purchases of:

Goods other than capital goods 49,982,884
Services 23,085,100

Total input VAT available 77,259,218
Claims against output VAT 73,309,695
Balance of input VAT at end of year P=3,949,524

Details of the Company’s net output tax are as follows:

Balance at beginning of year P=–
Output VAT during the year 32,244,836
Remittances (12,083,871)
Application of input VAT (20,160,965)
Balance of output VAT at end of year P=–

Tax Assessment
In March 2018, the Company received a Letter of Authority (LOA) from BIR for the year ended
December 31, 2016 to examine their books of accounts and other accounting records for all internal
revenue taxes.  The Company settled the deficiency tax assessment in September 2018.

As at December 31, 2018, there are no outstanding tax assessments and tax cases under
investigations, litigations nor prosecution in courts or bodies outside the BIR.
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